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STATEMENT OF THE CASE  

Richard Brakebill, Deloris Baker, Dorothy Herman, Della Merrick, Elvis Norquay, 

Ray Norquay, and Lucille Vivier (collectively “Plaintiffs”) filed a Complaint for Declaratory 

and Injunctive Relief (Complaint) in the United States District Court, District of North 

Dakota.  Doc. 1.  The Complaint challenges the constitutionality of HB 1332 and HB 1333, 

codified at N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07. Defendant Alvin Jaeger, in his official capacity as the   

North Dakota Secretary of State (hereinafter “the State”), moves to dismiss Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Rule 

12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Because the constitutionality of N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 is a question of law, the 

factual allegations in the Complaint are not legally material to resolving the issue 

presented by the Complaint.  To put the legal issue in context, however, the State 

provides the following summary of the alleged facts. For purposes of this motion only, 

the State does not dispute the following factual allegations made in the Complaint.   

North Dakota is the only state in the United States that does not have voter 

registration. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-01-05.1. The North Dakota Constitution provides that there 

are only three qualifications to be an elector: “[e]very citizen of the United States, who 

has attained the age of eighteen years and who is a North Dakota resident, shall be a 

qualified elector.” N.D. Const. art. II, § 1. “When an elector moves within the state, he 

shall be entitled to vote in the precinct from which he moves until he establishes voting 

residence in another precinct. The legislative assembly shall provide by law for the 

determination of residence for voting eligibility, other than physical presence.” Id.   

“Every citizen of the United States who is eighteen years or older; a resident of this 

state; and has resided in the precinct at least thirty days next preceding any election, 
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except as otherwise provided in regard to residency in chapter 16.1-14, is a qualified 

elector.” N.D.C.C. § 16.1-01-04(1). 

HB 1332 was enacted on April 19, 2013 and HB 1333 was enacted on April 24, 

2015. HB 1332, codified at N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07, mandated that before a ballot is 

delivered that poll clerks require individuals to show identification which includes the 

individual’s residential address and date of birth. HB 1333, also codified at N.D.C.C. 

§ 16.1-05-07, served to expand the valid forms of voter identification to include: a long-

term care certificate prescribed by the Secretary of State; for a uniformed service member 

or a qualifying family member temporarily stationed away from the individual's residence in 

North Dakota, a current military identification card and; for a qualified elector temporarily 

living outside the country, a passport.  

Plaintiffs allege that the enactment of HB 1332 disenfranchises and imposes 

significant barriers for qualified Native American voters by establishing strict voter 

identification and residence requirements which results in denying Native Americans, 

including Plaintiffs, an equal opportunity to participate in the political process. Plaintiffs, in 

the Complaint, state that HB 1332 and HB 1333 have the effect of disenfranchising 

qualified Native Americans and place a severe burden on their right to vote because the 

unemployment and poverty rates among Native Americans in North Dakota are higher 

than the North Dakota State average. Furthermore, according to the Plaintiffs’ Complaint, 

Native Americans in North Dakota are disproportionately homeless, face greater health 

threats and are less likely to have access to transportation. Therefore, Plaintiffs assert that 

HB 1332 and HB 1333: (1) violate section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. 10301; (2) 

place unconstitutional burdens on qualified electors in violation of the Equal Protection 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and North Dakota’s Equal Protection Clause and; 

(3) establish new voter qualifications in violation of the North Dakota Constitution Art. II, § 

1.               
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LAW AND ARGUMENT 

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, 

accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’ A claim has facial 

plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the 

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged. The 

plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a 

sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

678 (2009)(citations omitted).  

 In the present case, no material facts need to be resolved to determine the 

constitutionality of N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07. Moreover, as a matter of law, N.D.C.C. § 16.1-

05-07 is constitutional.  Accordingly, this Court should grant the State’s motion and dismiss 

the Complaint. 

I. State statutes are presumed constitutional. 

 Plaintiffs bear a heavy burden when attempting to prove the unconstitutionality of 

a state statute.  “Since a presumption of constitutionality attaches to state legislative 

enactments, a party seeking to challenge a statute under this standard bears a heavy 

burden.”  Fitz v. Dolyak, 712 F.2d 330, 333 (8th Cir. 1983) (citations omitted); see also 

Branson v. O.F. Mossberg & Sons, Inc., 221 F.3d 1064, 1065 n.4 (8th Cir. 2000) (stating 

“state statutes are presumed constitutional, and the plaintiff has the burden to show 

otherwise”).  The Plaintiffs cannot meet their heavy burden in this case. 

II. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 is constitutional. 

 The Constitution provides that States may prescribe “[t]he Times, Places and 

Manner of holding Elections for Senators and Representatives,” Art. I, § 4, cl. 1, and that 

States retain “the power to regulate elections.” Sugarman v. Dougall, 413 U.S. 634, 647 

(1973); Tashjian v. Republican Party of Connecticut, 479 U.S. 208, 217 (1986). “[A]s a 

practical matter, there must be a substantial regulation of elections if they are to be fair and 
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honest and if some sort of order, rather than chaos, is to accompany the democratic 

processes.” Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 730 (1974). “Election laws will invariably 

impose some burden upon individual voters” Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 433 

(1992). “[W]hether it governs the registration and qualifications of voters, the selection and 

eligibility of candidates, or the voting process itself, inevitably affects—at least to some 

degree—the individual's right to vote and his right to associate with others for political 

ends.” Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S. 780, 788 (1983). Consequently, to subject every 

voting regulation to strict scrutiny and to require that the regulation be narrowly tailored to 

advance a compelling state interest, as Plaintiffs suggests, would tie the hands of North 

Dakota to assure that elections are operated equitably and efficiently. As explained by the 

Supreme Court: 

Constitutional challenges to specific provisions of a State's election laws 
therefore cannot be resolved by any “litmus-paper test” that will separate 
valid from invalid restrictions. Instead, a court must resolve such a challenge 
by an analytical process that parallels its work in ordinary litigation. It must 
first consider the character and magnitude of the asserted injury to the rights 
protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments that the plaintiff seeks to 
vindicate. It then must identify and evaluate the precise interests put forward 
by the State as justifications for the burden imposed by its rule. In passing 
judgment, the Court must not only determine the legitimacy and strength of 
each of those interests; it also must consider the extent to which those 
interests make it necessary to burden the plaintiff's rights. Only after 
weighing all these factors is the reviewing court in a position to decide 
whether the challenged provision is unconstitutional. 
 

Anderson, 460 U.S. at 789 (1983). 

 The Anderson–Burdick standard is sufficiently flexible to accommodate the 

complexities of state election regulations while also protecting the fundamental importance 

of the right to vote. Courts must weigh the burden on voters against the state's asserted 

justifications and ‘make the hard judgment’ that our adversary system demands. Crawford 

v. Marion Cty. Election Bd., 553 U.S. 181, 190 (2008).  

 HB 1332 and 1333 were enacted in 2013 and 2015, respectively, and codified into 

N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 by the North Dakota Legislature to: deter and detect voter fraud; 
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improve, modernize and streamline the election procedures and; safeguard voter 

confidence by making the election process fair, open and honest.  The voter identification 

requirement has the additional benefit of promoting accurate record keeping. In addition, 

the need for documentation such as a birth certificate to get the valid identification 

suggests another benefit: it will prevent some people (because they are too young, not 

citizens or not North Dakota residents) from voting when they are unable to get the 

qualifying voter identification. If the public thinks that voter identification makes elections 

fairer and more honest, then people are more likely to vote or, if they stay home, to place 

more confidence in the outcomes. These are substantial benefits of HB 1332 and HB 

1333. 

 The Supreme Court in Crawford ruled “[T]here is no question about the legitimacy 

or importance of the State's interest in counting only the votes of eligible voters. Moreover, 

the interest in orderly administration and accurate recordkeeping provides a sufficient 

justification for carefully identifying all voters participating in the election process.” 

Crawford, 553 U.S. at 196. North Dakota has an interest in protecting public confidence in 

the integrity and legitimacy of representative government. While this latter interest is 

closely related to North Dakota’s interest in preventing voter fraud, public confidence in the 

integrity of North Dakota’s electoral process has independent significance, because it 

encourages citizen participation in the democratic process.     

A. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 does not place an unconstitutional burden on 
Plaintiffs. 
 

Under N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 “before delivering a ballot to an individual . . . the 

poll clerks shall require the individual to show identification, which includes the 

individual's residential address and date of birth.” After the legislative passing and 

subsequent enactment of HB 1332 and HB 1333, the valid forms of identification 

include: current driver's license or non-driver identification card issued by the 

department of transportation; an official form of identification issued by a tribal 
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government; a  long-term care certificate prescribed by the secretary of state and; for a 

uniformed service member or a qualifying family member temporarily stationed away 

from the individual's residence in the state or a qualified elector temporarily living 

outside the country, a current military identification card or passport if the individual 

does not possess an official form of identification. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07(1)(a)-(d).      

Plaintiffs assert N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 is unconstitutional because they either 

lacked identification that included their residential address and date of birth; lacked 

identification which was current; were burdened by the cost of a valid identification; 

were burdened by finding and collecting the documents necessary to be issued a valid 

identification or; were burdened by the travel necessary to get the identification. 

However, it should be noted that Plaintiffs Elvis Norquay and Della Merrick did have 

valid identification and did ultimately exercise their right to vote.   

Plaintiffs describe qualified Native American voters who lack valid identification 

as “disenfranchised.” If the reason the Plaintiffs lacked valid identification was that North 

Dakota made it impossible, or even hard, for them to get the necessary identification, 

then “disfranchised” might be an apt description. But if the identification necessary to 

vote is available to people willing to take the time to obtain a birth certificate or to obtain 

a drivers' license or non-driver identification card, then if a particular person lacks the  

required identification it is because that person was unwilling to invest the necessary 

time. Crawford tells us that “the inconvenience of making a trip to the [department of 

motor vehicles], gathering the required documents, and posing for a photograph surely 

does not qualify as a substantial burden on the right to vote, or even represent a 

significant increase over the usual burdens of voting.” Crawford, 553 U.S. at 198. “[F]or 

most eligible voters not having a photo ID is a matter of choice rather than a state-

created obstacle . . . If people who already have copies of their birth certificates do not 

choose to get free photo IDs, it is not possible to describe the need for a birth certificate 
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as a legal obstacle that disfranchises them.” Frank v. Walker, 768 F.3d 744, 749 (7th Cir. 

2014).  

“[I]f a nondiscriminatory law is supported by valid neutral justifications, those 

justifications should not be disregarded simply because partisan interests may have 

provided one motivation for the votes of individual legislators.” Crawford, 553 U.S. at 

204. North Dakota’s interests identified as justifications for the enactment of HB 1332 

and HB 1333 are neutral and sufficiently strong to require dismissal of Plaintiff’s facial 

attack on N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07. The application of the statute is amply justified by the 

valid interest in protecting the integrity and reliability of the electoral process.  

B. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 does not violate 52 U.S.C. § 10301. 

 Plaintiffs claim that HB 1332 and HB 1333 violate section 2 of the Voting Rights 

Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301 because of the social and economic conditions caused by and 

linked to historical and ongoing discrimination against Native Americans in North 

Dakota, including poverty, unemployment, lower educational attainment, higher rates of 

disability and lack of access to transportation.  

 Under the Voting Rights Act, “[n]o voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or 

standard, practice or procedure shall be imposed or applied by any State or political 

subdivision in a manner which results in a denial or abridgement of the right of any 

citizen of the United States to vote on account of race or color.” 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a). 

“A violation of subsection (a) is established if, based on the totality of circumstances, it 

is shown that the political processes leading to nomination or election in the State or 

political subdivision are not equally open to participation by members of a class of 

citizens protected by subsection (a) in that its members have less opportunity than other 

members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect 

representatives of their choice.” 52 U.S.C. § 10301(b).  
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 Unless North Dakota makes it needlessly hard to get the valid identification, it 

has not denied anything to any voter. Plaintiffs have not established that any difference 

in economic circumstances is discrimination attributable to North Dakota. Native 

Americans in North Dakota, including Plaintiffs, may be disproportionately likely to lack 

identification because they are disproportionately likely to live in poverty, which in turn 

may be traceable to the effects of discrimination in areas such as education, 

employment, and housing. However, there has been no finding that the State of North 

Dakota has discriminated in any of the aforementioned areas. 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a) 

forbids discrimination by “race or color” but does not require states to overcome societal 

effects of private discrimination that affect the income or wealth of potential voters. 52 

U.S.C. § 10301(b) provides that § 10301(a) does not condemn a voting practice just 

because it has a disparate effect on minorities. Instead, under § 10301(b), “[a] violation 

of subsection (a) is established if, based on the totality of circumstances, it is shown that 

the political processes leading to nomination or election in the State or political 

subdivision are not equally open to participation by members of a class of citizens 

protected by subsection (a) in that its members have less opportunity than other 

members of the electorate to participate in the political process.” (emphasis added). HB 

1332 and HB 1333 do not draw any line by race, nor do Native Americans have less 

opportunity than any other racial group to get the identification needed to vote in North 

Dakota elections. Plaintiffs have only shown that because they may have lower income 

or lack of transportation, they may be less likely to get the required identification. 

“[W]hen the validity of the state's voting laws depends on disparate impact . . . it is 

essential to look at everything (the ‘totality of circumstances’, § 10301(b) says) to 

determine whether there has been such an impact. Otherwise § 10301 will dismantle 

every state's voting apparatus . . . it would be implausible to read § 10301 as sweeping 

away almost all registration and voting rules. It is better to understand § 10301(b) as an 
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equal-treatment requirement (which is how it reads) than as an equal-outcome 

command.” Frank, 768 F.3d at 754 (7th Cir. 2014).  

 C. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 does not deny equal protection of the law.   

 Plaintiffs have not been harmed by N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 and lack standing to 

bring an equal protection claim based on N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07. Moreover, N.D.C.C. § 

16.1-05-07 does not violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides that no 

state shall “deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.”  

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.  “In general, the Equal Protection Clause requires that 

state actors treat similarly situated people alike.”  Bogren v. Minnesota, 236 F.3d 399, 

408 (8th Cir. 2000).   

Under N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07(1)(b), Plaintiffs may use their official form of 

identification issued by a tribal government which alleviates the burden of obtaining 

alternative identification. N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07(1)(b) provides a statutory option to the 

Plaintiffs that non-Native American residents of North Dakota do not have. Therefore, by 

requesting that N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 be declared unconstitutional, Plaintiffs are not 

asking that they be treated the same as similarly situated North Dakota qualified voters. 

Rather, they are demanding further special treatment. Plaintiffs demand that N.D.C.C. § 

16.1-05-07 be declared unconstitutional because they feel it is an unconstitutional 

burden on them for the State of North Dakota to require that they, like all other North 

Dakota residents, have a valid identification that includes their residential address, for 

state residency verification purposes, before they may submit their vote in a North 

Dakota election. Plaintiffs further contend that the costs, potential travel and time 

associated with receiving valid voter identification is a larger burden on them than on 

the rest of the general North Dakota citizenry. As N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 applies equally 

to all North Dakota residents, including the potential costs, travel and time associated 
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with satisfying the identification requirements of N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07, Plaintiffs are not 

requesting equal treatment but unconstitutionally favorable treatment. 

N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 treats all similarly situated North Dakota qualified voters 

alike.  “A citizen has a constitutionally protected right to participate in elections on an equal 

basis with other citizens in the jurisdiction.” Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 336 (1972). 

A qualified North Dakota voter is no more or less a qualified voter because he or she lives 

in the city or on the farm. This is the clear command of both the North Dakota Equal 

Protection Clause and the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause. A general 

rule that places “evenhanded restrictions that protect the integrity and reliability of the 

electoral process itself” are not invidious and satisfy the standard set forth in Harper v. 

Virginia State Bd. Of Elections, 383 U.S. 663 (1966). The state's important regulatory 

interests are generally sufficient to justify reasonable, nondiscriminatory restrictions. 

Anderson, 460 U.S. at 788 n.9 (1983).  

Plaintiffs ask this Court, in effect, to perform a unique balancing analysis that looks 

specifically at a small number of qualified North Dakota voters who may experience a 

burden, a burden that is identical and applicable to all North Dakota voters, under the 

statute and weighs their burden against the State's broad interests in protecting election 

integrity. The State's interests justify the inconvenience imposed on voters who cannot 

afford or obtain a birth certificate and who must make a trip to receive the required voter 

identification. 

Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that the proper remedy, even assuming an 

unjustified burden on some voters, would be to invalidate the entire statute. When 

evaluating a neutral, nondiscriminatory regulation of voting procedure, “[w]e must keep in 

mind that ‘[a] ruling of unconstitutionality frustrates the intent of the elected representatives 

of the people.’” Ayotte v. Planned Parenthood of N. New England, 546 U.S. 320, 329 

(2006) (citation omitted).  
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N.D.C.C. § 16.1-05-07 treats all similarly situated qualified North Dakota voters 

alike and does not place a burden or requirement on the Plaintiffs that it is not equivalent 

or identical to the burden placed on any other qualified North Dakota voter. Plaintiffs’ 

Equal Protection claim should be denied.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the above reasons, Defendant Alvin Jaeger, in his official capacity as the North 

Dakota Secretary of State, respectfully requests the Court grant its Motion to Dismiss the 

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief with prejudice. 

Dated this 3rd day of February, 2016. 

      State of North Dakota 
Wayne Stenehjem 
Attorney General 

 
      By:   /s/ Christopher S. Joseph    
       Christopher S. Joseph 
 Assistant Attorney General 
 State Bar ID No. 07450 
 Office of Attorney General 
 500 North 9th Street 
 Bismarck, ND 58501-4509 
 Telephone (701) 328-3640 
 Facsimile (701) 328-4300 
 Email csjoseph@nd.gov 
 
                                                              Attorneys for the Defendant.  
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